IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 21-0079

EAST BENCH IRRIGATION DISTRICT; UNITED STATES OF AMERICA (Bureau of Reclamation),

Claimants and Appellees,

EAST BENCH IRRIGATION DISTRICT; POINT OF ROCKS ANGUS RANCH, INC.,

Objectors and Appellees,

MADISON VALLEY GARDEN RANCH, LLC

Counterobjector and Appellee,

OPEN A RANCH, INC.,

Counterobjector and Appellant,

GEODUCK LAND & CATTLE, LLC; SMITH'S ELK MEADOWS RANCH, LLC,

Notice of Intent to Appear and Appellees

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Water Court err when it concluded the Definite Plan Report for the East Bench Unit Project is not a definitive statement of the United States' intent for the Project?

2. Did the Water Court err when it concluded due diligence applies to expansions in irrigated acreage occurring after completion of the Project's storage and conveyance facilities?

3. Did the Water Court err by not describing the entire service area place of use of water right 43B 40854-00?

4. Did the Water Court err by not granting Open A's request for an information remark subordinating Project users' private water rights to Project water right 43B 40854-00?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 10, 1981, the United States of America Department of the Interior, Bureau of Reclamation (USBOR) filed statements of claim for existing water rights 41B 40850-00 through 41B 40852-00, and 41B 40854-00 through 41B 40861-00. This appeal involves direct flow claim 41B 40850-00 owned jointly by USBOR and the East Bench Irrigation District (EBID) and storage claim 41B 40854-00 owned solely by USBOR. All claims are associated with USBOR's East Bench Unit Project (EBU) .

Numerous objections, counterobjections, and Notices of Intent to Appear were filed to the Basin 41B Preliminary Decree of these claims. The parties at trial included the Claimant USBOR; the Claimant and Objector EBID; Intervenor Clark Canyon Water Supply Company (CCWSC); Objector and Intervenor Point of Rocks Angus Ranch Inc. (POR); Counterobjector Open A Ranch, Inc. (Open A); Counterobjector Madison Valley Garden Ranch, LLC (MVGR); Notice of Intent to Appear Party Geoduck Land & Cattle LLC (Geoduck); and collective Intervenors Bar J Ranch, Baldy View Enterprises LLC, William C. Mancoronal, Roxanne E. Mancoronal, Justin D. Devers, and William R. Grose (collectively the Intervenors).

Claimants USBOR and EBID and Counterobjector Open A filed cross-motions for summary judgment. On July 3, 2019, the Water Court granted USBOR and EBID's Motion in part, holding that USBOR and EBID are entitled to a service area for claim 41B 40850-00, with the boundaries and maximum irrigated acreage to be determined at trial. Doc. 309.00. The Court denied Open A's Motion on irrigated acreage, holding that fact issues regarding USBOR's intent for the EBU precluded summary judgment. Doc. 310.00.

On July 3, 2019 in Case 41B-265, the Water Court also granted MVGR, POR, and the Intervenors' Motions for partial Summary Judgment requesting the Court remove an information remark referencing curtailment of water rights under a 1958 reclamation contract between CCWSC and USBOR (the "curtailment remark") from

their individual private water right claims. Order, Doc. 311.00, Appendix 3. The remark was added to all CCWSC shareholder claims by DNRC during claims examination prior to issuance of the Preliminary Decree. *Id.*, 8; Rules 1, 5 W.R.C.E.R. On summary judgment, the Court further ordered the remark be removed from all claims in Basin 41B. *Id.*, 10-11. Open A filed an exception to the Order. Doc. 313.00.

Case 43B-265 was tried January 13-16, 2020, the Hon. Chief Water Judge Russ McElyea presiding. At trial, Open A asserted irrigated acreage for the EBU is limited by the 1960 EBU Definite Plan Report. The other parties disputed this position.

On December 24, 2020, the Court issued its Final Order in Case 41B-265 (renumbered Case 41B 0265-P-2015). Appendix 2. The Court rejected Open A's arguments and held: 1) the maximum irrigated acreage for EBID was 28,005 acres based on a 1979 aerial photo (Final Order, 9); and 2) the maximum irrigated acreage for CCWSC cannot be determined but Project water may be used on lands served by the private water rights owned by CCWSC shareholders. Final Order, 31.

Open A appeals the Final Order and the Summary Judgment Order removing the curtailment remark.

//

//

STATEMENT OF FACTS

History of the EBU Project

The EBU Project is a flood control and irrigation project in the Beaverhead River Basin. The history and plan for the EBU Project is described in a USBOR document entitled Definite Plan Report on East Bench Unit – Montana, Three Forks Division, Missouri River Basin Project, dated April 1960 (DPR). A copy of the DPR was admitted by motion at the start of trial as Open A Exhibit 28 (OA Ex. 28), along with 22 other Open A Exhibits. Transcr. Day 1 (D1), 6:8-17, Doc. 360.00, Appendices 1, 4. Additional Open A Exhibits were admitted during trial.

The EBU is part of the Missouri River Basin Project (MRBP), which was authorized by the Flood Control Acts of 1944 and 1946. OA Ex. 28, DPR Summary Sheets, (i); *see* 43 U.S.C. §390. The plan for the MRBP is contained in an April 1944 report by USBOR and the Secretary of Interior known as Senate Document 191 (S.D 191). OA Ex. 112, Transcr. D1, 42. The 1944 Flood Control Act and S.D. 191 authorized further investigations for reclamation projects in the Missouri River Basin. Transcr. D1, 197:1-8; OA Ex. 28, 12-13.

Development of the Beaverhead River was part of the preliminary plan for the Upper Missouri River Basin contained in S.D. 191. OA Ex. 112, 61-67, BN 3728-3734; *see also In re Formation of East Bench Irrigation Dist.*, 2009 MT 135, ¶¶ 6-11, 350 Mont. 309, 207 P.3d 1097. The key to the development of the Upper

Missouri River Basin was the construction of the Canyon Ferry Reservoir. OA Ex. 112, 62, Bates Number (BN) 3729. Canyon Ferry Reservoir was designed to reregulate residual flows of the river enabling full development of upstream irrigation by maintaining water rights and power generation capacities on the Missouri River near Great Falls. *Id.*; Transcr. D1, 39-40, 199-202; OA Ex. 15, Transcr. D1, 203; OA Ex. 72, BN 2971; Transcr. D1, 185-187.

As proposed in S.D. 191, the Dillon Valley Unit included four reservoirs. OA Ex. 112, 62, BN 3729. Clark Canyon Reservoir would furnish a full supply of water for 25,000 acres “on a bench east of Dillon and a supplemental supply for 14,500 acres in the same general area.” *Id.* The three other reservoirs would provide full-service irrigation to an additional 5,100 new acres and provide supplemental water to 3,300 acres in the Beaverhead Valley. *Id.* Of the four proposed reservoirs, only Clark Canyon Reservoir has been constructed. Transcr. D1, 41:10.

Following S.D. 191, more detailed investigations were begun throughout the Missouri River Basin. OA Ex. 28, 12-13; App. A, A20.¹ Detailed investigations were completed on the EBU, and an initial DPR was prepared in 1956. *Id.* The Revised DPR was issued in April 1960. OA Ex. 28.

//

¹ Page numbers in the DPR preceded by a letter refer to that letter appendix; e.g., G40 is page 40 in Appendix (App.) G.

Definite Plan Report

The DPR Summary Sheets comprehensively describe the EBU Project:

Development of the East Bench Unit will provide for irrigation of 21,800 acres of irrigable land requiring a full supply of water and 28,004 acres of presently irrigated land, of which 24,848 acres will receive a supplemental supply of water and 3,156 acres will receive no additional water because early priority water rights provide an adequate supply. The irrigable land lies on a bench above the Beaverhead Valley, and the presently irrigated land lies in the valley along the Beaverhead River.

Clark Canyon Dam will be constructed at the head of the Beaverhead River to impound surplus flows of the Red Rock River and Horse Prairie Creek, which join to form the Beaverhead River. Water stored in Clark Canyon Reservoir formed by the dam will be released during the irrigation season into the Beaverhead River for irrigation of Unit land.

OA Ex. 28, DPR Summary Sheets, (i).

The 21,800 acres of irrigable land requiring a full supply are lands contained within EBID; the 28,004 acres of presently irrigated land are lands that have mostly been subscribed by shareholders to CCWSC. OA Ex. 31, Final Environmental Assessment, Conversion of Long-Term Water Service Contracts to Repayment Contracts, Clark Canyon Water Supply Company, East Bench Irrigation District, (2006) (Final EA), 5-6; Transcr. D1, 46-47, 50.

The EBU Project plan as described in the DPR called for users of existing water rights to sign their historically irrigated acres up for a regulated and supplemental water supply of up to 4 acre-feet per acre. OA Ex. 28, Appendix B,

B44. At the sign-up in 1956, USBOR and CCWSC shareholders determined and agreed there were approximately 28,004 acres of land irrigated from the Beaverhead River in the Beaverhead Valley. *See* OA Ex. 28, 47, G41; Transcr. D1, 33. These lands are specifically described in Land Classification Tables G-23 and G-24 of DPR Appendix G. OA Ex. 28, Table G-23, G48-G59. The original 24,848 subscribed acres was increased to 25,995 acres shortly before CCWSC’s first payment was due under the 1958 contract. OA Ex. 31, 5; Transcr. D1, 227. The owners of 3,156 acres were offered A shares or opted out of the Project. *See* OA Ex. 31, 5. Open A is a “non-signer” that opted out of the Project. Transcr. D2, 168-171. Through their subscription agreements with the company, CCWSC shareholders agreed to curtail the exercise of their rights, thus allowing USBOR to store the waters of the Beaverhead River in the Clark Canyon Reservoir under its 1961 priority date. OA Ex. 35, 1958 Contract between USBOR and CCWSC, 1, ¶ c; 3, ¶ 3; Transcr. D1, 6:8-17, Appendix 4. In exchange for limiting the use of their senior rights, CCWSC shareholders received a reservoir-regulated supply of natural flow and supplemental storage water of 4 acre-feet per acre on the subscribed acres of existing irrigation as a first priority. *Id.*, 3, ¶ 3.

The 21,800 acres of full-service irrigable land in EBID are described in Land Classification Table G-25 of DPR Appendix G as the total class 1, 2, and 3 arable acres in EBID. OA Ex. 28, G67; Transcr. D2, 223-225. Only Class 1, 2, and 3 lands

were considered irrigable acreage for EBID. OA Ex. 28, 46-47, G38, G20b, G44-G45; OA Ex. 33, BN 2400, BN 2418, BN 2434-2435, Transcr. D3, 149.

CCWSC shareholders agreeing to limit their use was an important component of the Project plan:

Plan of Development

Beaverhead River offers little opportunity for expansion under present conditions. Nearly all practicable developments for use of natural flow have been made. With 150,000 acre-feet of conservation storage at proposed Clark Canyon Reservoir, water resources of the river can be utilized to the fullest extent that is economically feasible. The limiting factor here is water – not land.

Location

East Bench Unit lands consist of two separate and distinct areas. The first is the supplemental irrigation service area of 28,004 acres of presently irrigated land lying along the valley of Beaverhead River from a point 20 miles southwest of Dillon to the mouth of Ruby River. This area has been irrigated for the past 90 years, but has suffered chronic water shortages. Irrigators on most of these lands are now incorporated into the Clark Canyon Water Supply Company and are prepared to participate in the plan proposed by the Bureau of Reclamation. It is expected that the remaining land will also join the company. The company has agreed to limit the use of water to 4.0 acre-feet per acre annually.

The other area is the full irrigation service area containing 21,800 irrigable acres (20,470 productive acres) lying in a relatively long narrow strip east of and adjacent to the irrigated valley lands. This is the East Bench and consists of dry, largely non-cultivated lands lying on smooth, gently sloping benches overlooking the valley. These lands have been organized into East Bench Irrigation District.

OA Ex. 28, App. B, B44.

Analyzing an alternative plan, USBOR determined that without CCWSC shareholders agreeing to limit their water use, only 17,000 acres of full-service bench land, as opposed to 21,800 acres, could be developed with the water supply. *See* OA Ex. 28, DPR, 37. Setting a definite acreage for CCWSC was necessary for proper sizing and development of the EBU. OA Ex. 38, BN 2710, Transcr. D1, 55-59.

Creation of EBID

District Court proceedings were initiated in 1957 to create EBID and a hearing was held in Cause No. 5228, *In the Matter of the Formation of East Bench Irrigation District*, on September 27, 1957 in Virginia City, Montana. OA Ex. 32, Transcr. D2, 189; *see generally* § 85-7-104 through 106, MCA. USBOR engineers testified concerning the water supply for EBID. OA Ex. 32, 15-16. USBOR engineers testified that limiting CCWSC shareholders to 4 acre-feet per acre on existing lands would satisfy their needs and provide enough additional supply to fully irrigate new EBID lands with 3.1 acre-feet per acre of water:

Q. Did your studies of the availability of water of lands of the East Bench include allowance for the filling of prior established water rights below Clark Canyon Dam?

A. Well, I can't answer that yes or no but could I explain a little bit?

Q. Surely.

A. We allowed for the water rights downstream all right, but the majority of the lands below Clark Canyon Dam have formed themselves into this – or I guess their shareholders into this Clark Canyon Water Supply Company and they have agreed to

relinquish a small part of the water that could have been taken out of the stream early in the year and they have relinquished enough of their water right to fulfill their requirement, 4 acre-feet annually, and then give a little bit of that water which they have had to the East Bench area until they have satisfied 3.1 acre feet per acre annually and then any water in excess of that would go back to the older lands and be divided up again.

OA Ex. 32, 36.

Creation of EBID was approved by the Montana State Engineer's office as required by law. § 89-1201(3), RCM 1947 (now codified at § 85-7-103, MCA).

OA Ex. 64, Transcr. D1, 6:8-17, Appendix 4. The State Engineer's approval was based on the DPR. OA Ex. 64, BN 2925.

Congressional Record

In the early 1960s, officials of USBOR, promoters of the Project and congressional representatives from Montana appeared before Congress to obtain money to construct the Clark Canyon Reservoir and the EBID Canal and Diversion Dam. OA Ex. 70; OA Exs. 72-77, Transcr. D1, 183-190. The congressional record indicates the appropriations of money were based on the acreage figures and Project size stated in the DPR. OA Ex. 70, BN 2947, BN 2949; OA Ex. 72, BN 2966-2967, 2971; OA Ex. 73, BN 2975; OA Ex. 74, BN 2980, 2987-2988; OA Ex. 75, BN 2992; OA Ex. 76, BN 2997; OA Ex. 77, BN 3001; *see also* OA Ex. 46; Transcr. D1, 175-179.

//

Reclamation Contracts

Historically, the use of EBU Project water by CCWSC shareholders was governed by the 1958 Reclamation Contract between USBOR and CCWSC and the individual subscription agreements of CCWSC shareholders. In the Contract, CCWSC agreed to curtailment of its shareholders' water rights:

3. During each year of the term of this contract, the United States shall store all flows of the Beaverhead River entering Clark Canyon Reservoir with the exception of amounts that must be released for maintenance of stream flow, to supply downstream rights of persons not shareholders of the Company and to provide flood storage space. From the conservation storage, the United States shall furnish water during the irrigation season for use of this Company's shareholders and for use of lands to be newly irrigated on the East Bench of the Dillon Valley... in accordance with the following priorities:

(1) First Priority: 4 acre-feet of water for each acre of land now irrigated by shareholders of the Company and for such additional acres with valid water rights on the date of the execution of this contract as may be owned by persons now or hereafter shareholders of the Company, to be measured at the River headgates to which it is distributed.

(2) Second Priority: 3.1 acre-feet of water per acre for each of the irrigable acres included in the East Bench Irrigation District to be measured at Barratts Diversion Dam.

(3) Third Priority: Such water in excess of 4 acre-feet per acre as can be beneficially used during the irrigation season under subsisting water rights on lands of the Company's shareholders to the extent it is available.

OA Ex. 35, BN 2459-2460, ¶ 3 (emphasis added). Under the 1958 Contract, curtailment was applicable throughout each year of the 40-year term. *Id.*, BN 2458,

¶ 3. The Contract gave USBOR the right to regulate and store all flows of the Beaverhead River as a priority senior to CCWSC shareholders' ability to exercise their rights. OA Ex. 35, BN 2459. Nearly identical language has been incorporated into the 2006 Reclamation Contract. OA Ex. 81, BN 3148-3149. The 2006 Contract acknowledges the water furnished by USBOR is a combination of storage and natural flow. *Id.*, BN 3148.

CCWSC Subscription Agreements

The Articles of Incorporation of CCWSC provide one share of Class A stock is the equivalent of one historically irrigated acre; one share of Class B or C stock is equal to one acre-foot of water. OA Ex. 40, 4-6; Transcr. D1, 6:8-17, Appendix 4; Transcr. D2, 98-101. The Articles further provide: 1) Class A stock is “inseparably appurtenant” to the lands subscribed, and 2) “water furnished to owners of Class B stock shall be applied only to Class B lands,” and 3) “water furnished to owners of Class C stock shall be applied only to Class C lands.” *Id.* For Class B and C stock “one share of stock shall be purchased for each acre-foot of supplemental water required to furnish such lands a full supply of water which shall be four (4) acre-feet of water per acre of land.” The CCWSC Board could refuse to issue stock in quantities greater or less than the Board determined adequate. OA Ex. 40, 5-6; Transcr. D2, 99-100. Shareholders with poor water rights were required to buy more

shares. Transcr. D3, 106; Transcr. D4, 309-310; *see also*, 43 U.S.C. §462 (purpose of land classification is to equitably apportion construction charges).

CCWSC subscription agreements identify the number of Class A, B and C acres subscribed and the number of acres irrigated with that class of shares. MVGR Exs. 15, 16; Transcr. D3, 160-161, 168-171, 173-178, 180-181. Class A stockholders limited their use to 4.0 acre-feet per acre. MVGR Ex. 15.003-15.004. For Class B and C stock, the number of shares represents the amount of water in acre-feet required to furnish a full supply of 4 acre-feet of water per acre to the acres in that class. MVGR Ex. 15.001-15.002. Paragraph 14 of the 1958 Contract provided that Class B shares correspond to Class 1, 2, or 3 lands classified by USBOR and delineated under “Net Irrigated Acres” on Table G-23 of the DPR, and Class C shares correspond to Class 4P and 6W lands on Table G-23. OA Ex. 35, 10, ¶ 14.c.; OA Ex. 28, G48, Table G-23; Transcr. D3, 168-171. The bottom of each page of Table G-23 notes: “The acreage was determined by field review and confirmed with the water users as the land actually irrigated with Beaverhead River water.” OA Ex. 28, G48, Table G-23; OA Ex. 28, 47. The total net irrigated acres in Table G-23 is 28,004 acres. OA Ex. 28, G48-G59, Table G-23, 12. Table G-23 is generally consistent with the acres CCWSC shareholders signed up in their subscription agreements. Transcr. D3, 169-171.

The subscribed acres in CCWSC upon which water allotments are based is 25,995 acres. OA Ex. 31, 5; Transcr. D1, 46, 205-207, 226-227, 261. Allotments are implemented by multiplying the shareholder's subscribed acres by 4 acre-feet of water per acre. Transcr. D1, 207. Allotments were enforced through a Water Commissioner hired to distribute water to shareholders; when shareholders used all their allotment the Commissioner shut off the shareholders' headgate. Transcr. D1, 231, 234, 252-253, 261; Transcr. D2, 105-109, 145-146; OA Ex. 99, BN 3498-3499, 20-22, Transcr. D3, 19-21. CCWSC allotments consist of a blend of water from both natural flow and storage. Transcr. D1, 231; Transcr. D2, 107; OA Ex. 81, BN 3148, Transcript D1, 6:8-17, Appendix 4. There is no method for determining the amount of storage versus natural flow at the shareholders' diversion points. Transcr. D1, 231-232; Transcr. D2, 108.

EBID Development Period

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