IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 21-0079

EAST BENCH IRRIGATION DISTRICT; UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
(Bureau of Reclamation),

Claimants and Appellees,

EAST BENCH IRRIGATION DISTRICT; POINT OF ROCKS ANGUS
RANCH, INC.,

Objectors and Appellees,

MADISON VALLEY GARDEN RANCH, LLC

Counterobjector and Appellee,

OPEN A RANCH, INC.,

Counterobjector and Appellant,

GEODUCK LAND & CATTLE, LLC; SMITH'S ELK MEADOWS
RANCH, LLC,

Notice of Intent to Appear and Appellees,

BAR J. RANCH; DAVID E. & SHELLI SCHUETT; BALDY VIEW
ENTERPRISES, LLC; WILLIAM C. MANCORONAL; ROXANNE E.
MANCORONAL; JUSTIN D. DEVERS; WILLIAM R. GROSE; POINT OF

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

- A. **The Water Court found correctly that the DPR was a planning and feasibility document without legal significance to limit perfection or intern.**

The evidence shows that the DPR was a feasibility study to ensure BOR's investment in the Clark Canyon Dam—"could the project pay for itself?" (D4, 14:16-20). Financial feasibility looks at the minimum requirements necessary for the principal to obtain a return on investment. (OA Ex. 28 at 43-47, G-1, G-44 to G-45; D4, 95:25-96-8). The cost of the dam was to be paid by selling water to irrigators and it was necessary to determine the minimum number of acres that would make the project pay. (July 3 Order at 5; D4, 14:16-20; 95:25-96-8). Nothing in the DPR was intended to limit the economic benefit or number of acres or require particular acreage irrigation. (D4, 99:4-16).

The Water Court addressed the DPR in summary judgment arguments identifying it as a plan, a planning exercise, and a forecast of the behavior of third parties who were intended to be consumers of Project water. (July 3 Order at 5). Additionally, this Court is not required to stop the analysis of intent after examining a feasibility document. It must also look to notice, diligent execution and beneficial use.

It is well established, however, that a declaration of intent is not by itself determinative of a water right. Intent must be followed by diligent execution, and by actual beneficial use *Irion v. Hyde*, 107 Mont. 84, 81 P.2d 353 (1938).

B. Open A's use of the DPR confuses the elements of intent and perfection

It is well-established that the elements of an appropriation of water are intent, notice, diversion, and application to beneficial use. *In re Adjudication of Existing Rights to the Use of All Water Within the Missouri River Drainage Area*, 2002 MT 216, ¶ 10, 311 Mont. 327, 55 P.3d 396. Ultimately, beneficial use perfects the water right which then must be used and not abandoned.

Under traditional prior appropriation law, a water user “perfected” a water right by first intending to put water to a beneficial use, and ultimately, using the water as intended. . . for appropriators proceeding under the statutory method of appropriation, additional recording requirements applied. . .

Stephen R. Brown, Michelle L. Bryan & Russ McElyea, MONTANA WATER LAW p.36 (Rocky Mt. Min L. Fdn. 2021).

Generally, intent helps determine a water right’s characteristics and requires an overt act like filing a notice of appropriation. Where a clear statement of intent was not available, intent could be inferred from “acts and circumstances surrounding his possession of the water, its actual or contemplated use and the purposes thereof.” *See Toohey v. Campbell*, 24 Mont. 13, 17, 60 P. 396, 397 (1900) (where the squatter expanded his flow rate from a few inches to 150 within his original homestead, he was allowed to relate back to the original priority date but could not claim the same date when he acquired new land holdings, consequently receiving a later priority date for that acreage).

The law recognizes the difficulties inherent in water development and does not require the use be made immediately to the full extent of the needs of the

appropriator. . . provided that the appropriator proceeds with due diligence to apply the water to his needs. *Wheat v. Cameron*, 64 Mont. 494, 210 P. 761; *O'Shea v. Doty*, 68 Mont. 316, 218 P. 658 (1923); *St. Onge v. Blakely*, 76 Mont. 1, 23, 245 P. 532, 539 (1926).

Evaluation of intent in a project like this necessarily requires a look at the history, its objectives, and the actions of the appropriators before, during, and after project completion. Beginning with the notice, Open A does not question the sufficiency of BOR's timely filed Notice of Appropriation "to store, utilize, and administer . . . all of the unappropriated and undecreed flood flows of the Beaverhead River but not in excess of the amount of water required to fill at any given time, the said reservoir of 261,000 acre-feet capacity, (EBID Ex. 56, 0962-0963; US Ex. 039, 0956-0961).

The Notice describes the type of right—1961 for storage as well as the purposes and places of use sufficiently to notice all senior and junior appropriators. There is no record of Open A or its predecessors objecting to or taking issue with the elements of the BOR appropriation. Where such changes went unchallenged for decades, the Water Court has been loath to re-open questions of injury many years later. *See e.g. Curry v. Pondera Cty. Canal & Reservoir Co.*, Case No. WC-2006-01, Order Amending and Partially Adopting Master's Report 14 Mont Water Ct. Apr. 25, 2014.

The BOR thus gave proper notice of its intent to appropriate a volume of junior stored water which satisfied both intent and notice. To fully perfect the right under the general rule, appropriators next must divert and apply the water to beneficial use. However, in the cases of public service companies, this Court has recognized a modified analysis for entities that develop water for use by third parties but do not own the underlying land themselves.

C. Public Service Companies –intent and perfection.

The concepts of intent and appropriation are necessarily different when an appropriation is made by a public service company (“PSC”) for future use by third parties. *Bailey v. Tintinger*, 45 Mont. 154, 175-78, 122 P. 573, 582-84 (1912).

BOR is a PSC and EBID a statutory irrigation district with a service area instead of a place of use. Service areas have been recognized by this Court in *Master’s Report*, Montana Water Court Case 76HE-166 (*the Painted Rocks case*) (Mar. 9, 2000); *Order Vacating Master’s Order and Approving Stipulation*, Water Court Case 40J-99, (Nov. 16, 2018); *Bailey*, 45 Mont. at 177, 122 P. at 583; *Curry v. Pondera Cnty. Canal & Reservoir Co.*, 2016 MT 77, 383 Mont. 93, 370 P.3d 440.

Appropriations made for future use by a PSC acquire a right by filing notice of intent to appropriate and then diligently constructing the project. *Id.*; *see also* Revised Code of Montana (1947), § 89-811 (steps for diligence in filing an appropriation). Because a PSC does not own the land like a private appropriator, a

PSC's perfection is complete when it stands ready to deliver water to third parties. *Bailey*, 45 Mont. at 178, 122 P. at 583.

For a PSC, completion of the facilities means the doctrine of relation back applies, and the appropriation is perfected consistent with the appropriator's original bona fide intent with a priority date as of the date of posting. § 89-812, RCM (1947); *Bailey*, 45 Mont. at 173-174, 122 P. at 581-582; *Mont. Dept. of Nat. Res. & Conservation v. Intake Water Co.*, 171 Mont. 416, 430, 558 P.2d 1110, 1118 (1976).

As beneficial use occurs prior to application of water to land, the right cannot be “constrained by the actual use of the water, nor can it be indelibly constrained by the exact land upon which the water is put to beneficial use.” *Curry*, 370 P.3d at 453. While this is true in cases involving direct flow claims as in *Bailey* and *Curry*, it is even more apt in the special case where the appropriator has built a reservoir and appropriated stored water. *Infra*. The ultimate use of water depends on the actions of third parties, but are not “determined” by them as Open A argues. When the Court looked to the actions of third parties during the so-called development period, it was to understand the history of the project's build out, and to ensure that no abandonment had occurred. *Id.*; *Bailey*, 122 P. at 583.

The BOR clearly stated its intent, was diligent in the planning and construction of the project—only taking four years to go from the notice of

appropriation to its first delivery of water. The facts adduced at trial and through the project history, show third party diligence in applying a volume of stored water to irrigable ground in an irrigation district.

D. EBID Development Period.

The Water Court correctly found that the Development Period was a time of learning and adjustment, not a window during which irrigated acreage had to be developed or lost. (Final Order, 25).

Open A mistakes a ten-year orientation period for a hard deadline to put every available irrigable acre in the EBID under cultivation. This is not required under the law, nor was it the intent of the parties when they agreed to a development period in the 1957 contract beginning when:

The Secretary of the Interior will announce when there will be a full water supply. . . beginning of the development period after which assessments will be made to cover operation and maintenance expenses. At the end of this period the project will be turned over to the water users to maintain. At that time the water users will begin paying an additional charge of \$2.25 per acre per year for their share of the construction costs.

(EBID Ex. 37 0369).

Characterized by the BOR and farmers with personal knowledge of the time they saw the ten years as a financial training period. (D4, 19:2-21; D4, 256:7-20).

Although unable to point to any contemporaneous document or subsequent report to support this contention, Open A argues that this ten-year period was an

absolute deadline to use it or lose it. Once again Open A confuses what the BOR appropriated and perfected—storage water not a set number of acres. The storage water applied to EBID was put to use as quickly and efficiently as possible considering the economics of the time and the changes to irrigated agriculture that were underway in the 1970's.

If as *Intake* teaches, the water right is perfected upon completion of the facilities, and there is no dispute that the BOR perfected 178,062 acre feet of storage water, then it is difficult to see why the diligent application of 70,336 acre feet of this right to lands within an irrigation district on the Bench is problematic

Water was first delivered to East Bench farmers in the irrigation season of 1965, but only 8,491 acres were irrigated that year and farmers were limited to 40 acres of water. (EBID Ex. 22; OA Ex. 50). For the next fourteen years, the individual irrigators of the Bench were developing an entirely new irrigation system on ground that had never been irrigated before. (US Ex. 4, 2; D4, 274:22-275:-7; 289:11-21; *see also*, OA Appendix 2, 6-7).

They were also transitioning the project from its original DPR design as a flood irrigation project to the new methods of pipelines, pumps, hand and wheel lines. In 1973, 61% of the acres were irrigated by the sprinkler method. (EBID Ex. 23, 0252). Although the acreage increased past the 21,800 acres referenced in the DPR, the volume of water never increased, rather the irrigators were just able

to spread the same volume of water to more acres. (D4, 105;2-9).

At trial, witnesses testified that EBID farmers continued to expand irrigation within the project after the Development Period ended due to a variety of circumstances but mainly the advent of sprinklers and pumps and the amount of irrigation increased to 28,005 acres by 1979. (D2, 80:6-15; D4, 105:10-22; D4, 329: 17-20).

Farmers within EBID testified to the hardships they endured, but in general, they were trying to develop irrigation as fast as the financial, physical and technological constraints allowed.

Despite the testimony from the actual irrigators who continued to modify the project and their individual systems in the 1970's and 1980's, Open A argues for a legal significance of the development period and a term limit on the reasonable diligence. The law does not require this.

E. Open A mistakes the role of 3rd parties in the seminal PSC Cases, *Bailey and Curry*.

Open A seizes on the actions of third parties as somehow limiting the nature of a PSC's water right by arguing that the actions of third parties reflect the intent and perfection of the water right. This is the exact opposite lesson that the first PSC case stands for.

Consider that in *Bailey*, the Glass Lindsey Company appropriated 5,000 miner's inches of water to sell in 1892. The original company failed but the

successors in interest managed to steadily increase the diversion and ultimately the capacity of the system was found to be 2,200 inches by 1910. *Curry*, 370 P.3d at 447. The Court did not penalize plaintiffs for what they could not do—force third parties to irrigate the land—and limiting the intent and perfection.

[W]e base our conclusion that, as to a public service corporation, its appropriation is complete when it has fully complied with the statute and has its distributing system completed and is ready and willing to deliver water to users upon demand, and offers to do so. The right thus obtained may be lost by abandonment or nonuser for an unreasonable time (1 Wiel, sec. 569), but cannot be made to depend for its existence in the first instance upon the voluntary acts of third parties—strangers to its undertaking.

Curry, 370 P.3d at 448. (emphasis supplied).

Open A takes cases about perfection and relation back of a priority date and argues that they mean “intent cannot be *determined* by the subsequent acts of third parties. (OA Brief at 30).” Open A would make third parties a limit rather than a reason for extended period of diligence. Once it is apparent that the US appropriated an amount of storage water for sale to farmers on the EBID, the actions of the farmers are not even an issue in discussing intent. The actions of the third parties in putting the water to use diligently and in building out the project are evidence that the amount of storage water was not abandoned, but rather put to actual beneficial use in a timely fashion.

Open A would use *Bailey* and *Curry* to penalize PSC’s and limit what they perfected based on the actions of the third parties, whereas *Bailey* actually holds

the opposite--giving PSC's an additional layer of protection because of the work they are engaged in: "[i]t is clearly the public policy of this state to encourage these public service corporations in their irrigation enterprises, and the courts should be reluctant to reach a conclusion which would militate against that policy. *Curry*, 370 P.3d at 449.

Open A's argument that a PSC should be limited or determined by what the third parties do is exactly the opposite lesson of these two cases, in which appropriators took far longer to grow into their water right than EBID did. *Bailey* and *Curry* instruct that the actions of third parties are relevant when considering whether a perfected water right has been abandoned by failure to apply the water to beneficial use over a reasonably diligent period of time—not as to establishing intent at the outset.

Fundamentally, Open A wants the discussion to center on acres because the DPR contains acreage numbers. However, the BOR appropriated a quantum of water, not a certain number of acres.

F. Open A's focus on DPR acres ignores the facts of this case and law of storage.

"Storage water acquires a unique status once impounded. *Granite Cnty. Bd. of Comm'rs v. McDonald*, 2016 MT 281, ¶¶ 14, 15, 385 Mont. 262, 383 P.3d 740. Water released from storage is not part of the natural flow and other users are only entitled to the natural flows of a stream and nothing more. *Id.*

It is telling that Open A's opening brief mentions the word "storage" approximately 14 times where the Water Court's Final Order uses the word more than 50 times. This is no mistake as a downstream appropriator has no rights to water stored behind an upstream dam. *Id.* Open A is such appropriator who has been unable to show any harm or adverse effect from EBID and CCWSC's use of storage water, ignoring the vital fact of storage to buttress its allegations of adverse effect.

Importantly on the EBU, the Water Court cited to *Painted Rocks* for the following proposition:

The use of stored water means that the project cannot increase the burden on the source beyond its claimed volume. Once the water is stored in the reservoir, it is no longer available to other appropriators, junior or senior. Where the project water goes and how many acres it irrigates or how many livestock drink it, does not adversely change the condition of the source or cause potential injury to junior appropriators.

Master's Report at 8-9, Montana Water Court Case 76HE-166 (the Painted Rocks case) (Mar. 9, 2000).

The volume of water in storage for 41B 40854-00 was perfected when the facilities were complete in 1965 and by 1979, 14 years after the project began, the full extent of the use of storage was realized on EBID. There is no contention that the farmers of CCWSC and EBID have abandoned the use of stored water by failing to put the contracted volume of water to beneficial use each year it was available. (EBID Ex. 22). To the contrary, the testimony and exhibits related to

the diligence and build out of the project show diligent application of water to beneficial use in adverse conditions. *Id.*

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